IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC09-526

JOHN TROY, Appellant,	
VS.	
THE STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

David R. Gemmer Florida Bar Number 0370541 Robert T. Strain Florida Bar Number 0325961 Assistant CCRC's -Middle Office of The Capital Collateral Regional Counsel 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Fl 33609-1004 (813) 740-3544 Counsel for the Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Troy was indicted for first-degree murder of Bonnie Carroll, as well as armed burglary and armed robbery; a fourth count, attempted sexual battery with a weapon upon Carroll, was later added by information. Troy was separately charged by information for the related armed burglary, aggravated battery, armed kidnapping, and armed robbery of Traci Burchette. Trial by jury resulted in guilty verdicts on all counts in both cases. Following a penalty phase, the jury recommended a death sentence for the murder by an eleven-to-one vote and the trial court imposed a death sentence.

Troy v. State, 948 So.2d 635, 638 (Fla. 2006)

The judgment and sentences were affirmed on appeal. *Id*. The defendant filed a timely petition for writ of certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court that was denied on June 18, 2007. *Troy v. Florida*, 551 U.S. 1135 (2007).

Mr. Troy filed his Motion for Postconviction Relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 on June 10, 2008. PCROA V3 511 to V4 606. The defendant raised 12 claims and sought an evidentiary hearing on five of them. The postconviction court summarily denied all claims on March 3, 2009, including the five claims designated for an evidentiary hearing. PCROA V5 816 to V7 1304.

In an unusual procedural move, despite denial of the motion for postconviction relief, the postconviction court granted the defendant's motion to interview a juror. PCROA V7 1305. The motion had been filed at the case management conference to allow the defendant to present testimony from the juror in support of the claim addressed in Issue 2 herein. The court addressed the motion as a separate matter, and took testimony from the juror and the victim's father at a hearing held after the defendant filed a notice of appeal of the denial of the postconviction motion. Additional facts are set out in the argument on Issue 2.

_

¹ Citations in this brief shall be as follows: The record on appeal concerning the trial proceedings shall be referred to as "ROA ____" followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. The postconviction record on appeal will be referred to as "PCROA ____" followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS²

Mr. Troy was convicted for the murder of 20-year-old Bonnie Carroll in Sarasota, Florida. She had been killed after midnight on September 12, 2001, and her mother discovered her body the following afternoon. The victim suffered multiple knife wounds and impact injuries to her face.

The evidence showed that Mr. Troy lived with his mother in the same apartment complex as the victim. He had been released from prison on probation more than a month before the murder. The day of the murder, he failed a drug test and his probation officer told him he was going to return to prison. Mr. Troy returned home, but left after an argument and ingested cocaine with a friend during three visits before the homicide, and in one visit after. A downstairs neighbor refused to let him in when he pounded on her door shortly before the murder

Early in the morning, several hours after the murder, Mr. Troy went to the home of Traci Burchette, a friend of his mother who had put up both of them briefly the month before. He attacked her and took her car and an ATM card. He drove south toward Naples but police stopped and arrested him. A passenger in the car led police to a two-by-four by the road bearing what appeared to be blood and containing DNA from Ms. Burchette. DNA found on Mr. Troy's clothing matched

3

² The facts are drawn from the opinion in the direct appeal, *Troy v. State*, 948 So.2d 635, 638 (Fla. 2006).

that of the two victims. Investigators found Mr. Troy's DNA under Ms. Carroll's fingernails and on a broken piece of glass, and they found his fingerprints on a glass on her kitchen counter.

At the outset of trial, with Troy's consent, defense counsel acknowledged in his opening statement both that Troy killed Carroll and that he had attacked Burchette. However, he claimed Troy was only guilty of second-degree murder on the basis that the killing was neither premeditated nor committed during the perpetration of any felony. Although Troy did not contest most of the charges, the defense, in its case and on cross-examinations, introduced physical evidence, photographs, and testimony to corroborate Troy's statements. Specifically, the defense substantiated that Troy was in Carroll's apartment by invitation, that the two of them were socializing prior to their argument which culminated in her murder, and that Troy used drugs while in her apartment. There was no evidence of forced entry into Carroll's apartment. Despite the defense claims, Troy was found guilty of first-degree murder and all other charges.

. . . .

The defense's penalty phase presentation focused on Troy's upbringing, his behavior and adjustment in prison, his potential for rehabilitation if sentenced to life imprisonment, and the impact of the tragic national events of September 11, 2001, which the defense claimed resulted in Troy's explosion of violence. In addition to the numerous family members and other character witnesses who testified on Troy's behalf, Dr. Michael Maher, a clinical and forensic psychiatrist, also gave expert testimony concerning the effects of Troy's difficult upbringing. He testified regarding (1) Troy's unstable, physically and emotionally abusive childhood; (2) Troy's being sexually molested at age thirteen by an adult male teacher, which resulted in humiliation and ostracism after Troy was the key witness at the teacher's high-publicity trial in a small town; (3) Troy's arrested psychological development; (4) Troy's lifelong depressive illness; (5) Troy's chronic drug addiction from an early age; (6) Troy's response to the national events of September 11; and (7) Troy's acute intoxication at the time of Carroll's murder.

Troy, 948 So.2d at 640-41. At the *Spencer* hearing, the defense presented testimony from a detective who had taken a confession from Mr. Troy that had been suppressed at trial. The detective testified that Mr. Troy accepted responsibility for the death of Carroll and expressed remorse for his crimes. The trial court ruled this opened the door to the entire confession, revealing details of the murder of Ms. Carroll. However, the confession also revealed that Mr. Troy denied having sex with the victim and that he said he had ingested heroin, cocaine, and Paxil the night of the crimes, that he had used cocaine in Ms. Carroll's apartment, that he thought his use of Paxil influenced his actions, and that the argument with Ms. Carroll started when she disparaged his mother.

The trial court found four aggravators, the two statutory mental health mitigators, and fifteen nonstatutory mitigators, and sentenced Mr. Troy to death. This Court denied relief on the direct appeal. This postconviction proceeding followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The overriding basis for relief on Issues 1-5 is that the postconviction court erred in summarily denying without hearing the claims designated by the defendant as requiring an evidentiary hearing. Error is claimed for the failure to grant relief on the remainder of the claims.

Issue 1: Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to prepare a penalty phase witness. Trial counsel sought to introduce testimony from an assistant DOC warden. The trial court recognized that testimony would be admissible from a witness with specific knowledge of Mr. Troy and how he would adapt to life in prison, but barred the testimony for lack of the individualized knowledge. The postconviction court denied this claim because this Court affirmed the trial ruling based on the lack of individualized knowledge. However, the postconviction tribunal overlooked the essence of the claim, i.e. that trial counsel was ineffective **because** the testimony was not intended to be based on personal knowledge -- it was ineffective for trial counsel to have sought to introduce inadmissible testimony, and that competent counsel would have educated the witness so that his testimony would have been admissible. The postconviction motion alleges facts supporting the claim unrefuted by the record that require an evidentiary hearing.

Issue 2: Ineffective assistance of counsel in jury selection. One of the jurors disclosed on his trial information sheet that he belonged to a small beach-community chamber of commerce. Postconviction investigation determined that the victim's father was the treasurer of that chamber of commerce. The juror and the victim's family lived in the same small community a short distance from each other and the juror and the family both were involved in real estate. The postconviction court conducted an ancillary proceeding on a motion it took to be

separate from the 3.851 motion to determine whether the juror and family actually knew each other, but it erred in summarily denying the claim in the 3.851 motion. The summary denial found that the question of the juror's actual acquaintance was mere speculation. Ignored by the court was the additional claim that competent trial counsel would have struck the juror even if actual acquaintance were not shown, because the parties would inevitably become known to each other. Trial counsel knew the victim's father was erratic and aggressive (continuing to this date), requiring a restraining order to force him to stop harassing Mr. Troy's mother, and could reasonably anticipate the father would testify in the penalty phase. The potential for intimidation by someone the juror knew lived and worked in close proximity compelled striking the juror. The jury also developed a close identification with the victim's family, for instance forcing the dismissal of the forewoman after she embraced the victim's mother and offered sympathy and encouragement in the middle of the trial. The jury also sat for a group photograph. One intimidated or sympathetic juror would have biased the entire panel.

Issue 3: The age mitigator. In finding no error in failure to instruct on the age mitigator, this Court held two mutually exclusive conditions existed – Mr. Troy proved he was functioning at an immature, adolescent level at the time of the crimes, and Mr. Troy was functioning as a mature adult. As this Court found, the evidence clearly proved Mr. Troy was functioning at an adolescent level. Trial

counsel completely failed to marshal that evidence when he sought the age instruction, tossing away the substantial evidence of immaturity, which this Court agrees established the fact, with "And also, Judge, there was some testimony about the Defendant's emotional immaturity that may be relevant to the consideration of [the age instruction]." Competent counsel is obliged to prepare and argue effectively at trial, and his failure to do so here was ineffective assistance of counsel. A hearing would have allowed the evidence supporting the claim to be developed.

Issue 4: Lethal injection protocol. An individualized hearing is necessary to ascertain whether Florida's lethal injection protocol adequately protects Mr. Troy from cruel and unusual punishment. Recent developments including the problems with Ohio's lethal injection procedures demonstrate the need for an evidentiary hearing on a case-by-case basis.

Issue 5: Lethal injection – identity of execution team. The constitutionality of the execution process in Florida is ensured, in part, by public scrutiny. Keeping the identities of the execution team a secret is neither necessary nor constitutionally justifiable. Botched executions in Florida, Ohio, and elsewhere, as well as the evidence from the Governor's Commission appointed after the Diaz execution, evidence from the *Lighbourne* hearings, and the

Dyehouse memos, demonstrate the constitutional necessity of public review of the team members.

Issue 6: Constitutional infirmity of section 27.702. Capital defendants represented by CCRC are deprived of the option of a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 challenge to lethal injection, contrary to similarly situated defendants represented by registry counsel, *pro bono* counsel, or privately retained counsel.

Issue 7: The rules denying counsel the right to interview jurors are unconstitutional. Access to jurors is necessary to assure the jury was not tainted by impermissible influences or otherwise acted in an unconstitutional manner. The blanket prohibition imposed on counsel is unconstitutional and denies defendants adequate assistance of counsel.

Issue 8: *Caldwell* **claim.** Florida's jury instructions unconstitutionally diminish the jury's responsibility in sentencing.

Issue 9: Incompetent to be executed. An unresolved quirk in federal jurisprudence requires the defendant to raise the issue of his competency in the initial postconviction proceeding.

Issue 10: Death sentence statute unconstitutional as applied. The state and federal constitutions require that penalty phase juries must unanimously find each aggravating factor to exist.

Issue 11: Death sentence statute unconstitutional on its face and as applied. Florida's sentencing scheme fails to guarantee that the death penalty is not arbitrarily imposed or that it will be imposed only on the worst offenders.

Issue 12: Cumulative error. Each claim raised in postconviction justifies relief, but, to the extent any single one fails to rise to that level, the claims in combination and in totality require a new trial and resentencing.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question is whether the trial court erred in summarily denying all claims in the postconviction motion for relief. The standard of review this Court applies is set out thusly:

As a general proposition, a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on any well-pled allegations in a motion for postconviction relief unless (1) the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief, or (2) the motion or a particular claim is legally insufficient. See Maharaj v. State, 684 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1996); Anderson v. State, 627 So.2d 1170 (Fla.1993); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The defendant bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim. Mere conclusory allegations are insufficient to meet this burden. See Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla.1989). However, in cases where there has been no evidentiary hearing, the court must accept the factual allegations made by the defendant to the extent that they are not refuted by the record. See Peede v. State, 748 So.2d 253 (Fla.1999); Valle v. State, 705 So.2d 1331 (Fla.1997). We must examine each claim to determine if it is legally sufficient and, if so, determine whether or not the claim is refuted by the record.

Parker v. State, 904 So.2d 370, 376 (Fla. 2005).

The claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, for purposes of determining whether a legally valid claim has been presented, requiring a hearing, are measured by the polestar of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984):

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the

defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

Id. at 687.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MR. TROY'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF MR. TROY'S RIGHTS UNDER THE FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, WHEN COUNSEL FAILED TO PROPERLY AND ADEQUATELY PREPARE A MITIGATION WITNESS, MICHAEL GALEMORE, LEADING TO THE EXCLUSION OF THE WITNESS'S PROPOSED TESTIMONY.

At trial, the court excluded the testimony of Michael Galemore, a Florida Department of Corrections assistant warden. Trial counsel argued that Galemore would testify about alternatives to the death sentence, i.e. life without parole, and the conditions under which the sentence would be served. ROA Vol. 30 2726-29.

In the 3.851 motion, Mr. Troy argued:

From his efforts during the pretrial and at trial, counsel had the duty to ensure that Mr. Troy received a fair trial. During the Galemore proffer, counsel referred the court to the 2003 ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Defense Counsel in Death Penalty Cases and its obligation to produce "witnesses who can testify about the applicable alternative to a death sentence and/or the conditions under which the alternative sentence would be served." (ROA V.30 p. 2728)(in citing to ABA Guidelines 10.11(F)(3), 31 Hofstra L. Rev. 913, 1055-56 (Summer 2003)(emphasis added).

As noted previously, trial counsel informed the trial court that Galemore had no personal contact with the defendant and had no knowledge of the facts of the defendant's case. (ROA V30 p.2727).

Not discussed in court by counsel were his January 27, 2003, written comments to his investigator that "[t]his will be the first time in his [Galemore's] career that he has had to testify. I think the more details that we could offer regarding our line of questioning the better witness that he would be." It would appear, therefore, that the failure to have Mr. Galemore meet and interview Mr. Troy before trial was contrary to the stated and written pre-trial intentions of trial counsel and his investigative team. Counsel also failed to have Mr. Galemore review Mr. Troy's previous prison records and the proposed or existing testimony of the eight witnesses who, in fact, testified as to Troy's general good behavior in prison beginning at age eighteen. Again, combined with exposure to other "details" of the case, Galemore could have been presented as a DOC witness familiar with the defendant and his case, thereby overcoming the court's emphasized basis for the proffer ruling. As counsel recognized at least seven months before trial, providing the witness with this background and information would have made him a "better witness" for testimony before the jury about conditions of future incarceration. See United States v. Johnson, 223 F.3d 665, 671 (7th Cir. 2000) (describing how, to rebut the government's assertion of future dangerousness, federal capital defendant put on evidence at penalty phase regarding conditions at "Supermax" prison where defendant would be housed if sentenced to life imprisonment), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 829 (2001); Benjamin Weiser, "Lawyers for Embassy Bomber Push for Prison Over Execution," N.Y. Times, June 27, 2001, at B4; ("In the federal capital sentencing of a defendant convicted of bombing American embassies overseas, the defense presented evidence about conditions at the federal 'Super Max' prison in Florence, Colorado, where the defendant would be incarcerated if sentenced to life without parole."); cited in ABA Guidelines, Commentary to 10.11, 31 *Hofstra L. Rev.* 913, 1063 at footnote 290; Brown v. State, 526 So.2d 903, 908 (Fla., 1988) ("Mitigating evidence" is not limited to the facts surrounding the crime but can be anything in the life of a defendant which might militate against the appropriateness of the death penalty for that defendant. See Hitchcock v. Dugger, Eddings v. Oklahoma,; Lockett v. Ohio.")(citations omitted)(emphasis added).

One of the primary duties defense counsel owes to his client is the duty to prepare himself adequately prior to trial.

"Pretrial preparation, principally because it provides a basis upon which most of the defense case must rest, is, perhaps the most critical stage of a lawyer's preparation." *House v. Balkcom*, 725 F.2d 608, 618 (11th Cir.), *cert. denied*, 469 U.S. 870, 105 S.Ct. 218, 83 L.Ed.2d 148 (1984). *See Weidner v. Wainwright*, 708 F.2d 614, 616 (11th Cir.1983) ("At the heart of effective representation is the independent duty to investigate and prepare") (*quoting Goodwin v. Balkcom*, 684 F.2d 794, 805 (11th Cir.1982)). Although all criminal defendants are entitled to the effective assistance of counsel, "the seriousness of the charges against the defendant is a factor that must be considered in assessing counsel's performance." *Proffitt v. Wainwright*, 685 F.2d 1227, 1247 (11th Cir.1982) (*citing Washington v. Watkins*, 655 F.2d 1346, 1357 (5th Cir. Unit A Sept.1981), *cert. denied*, 456 U.S. 949, 102 S.Ct. 2021, 72 L.Ed.2d 474 (1982)).

Magill v. Dugger, 824 F.2d 879, 886 (11th Cir. 1987).

PCROA V3 525-26 (emphasis added).

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