#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN TROY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-526 DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Court of Appeals both denied Hill's claim, holding that his section 1983 claim was the functional equivalent of a habeas petition. Because Hill had sought federal habeas relief earlier, his section 1983 action was deemed successive and thus procedurally barred. Hill, 126 S. Ct. at 2097. However, the United States Supreme Court reversed and held that challenge to the constitutionality of the lethal injection procedure did not have to be brought in a habeas petition, but could proceed under section 1983. Id. at 2098. However, contrary to Diaz's assertions here, the United States Supreme Court did not hold that a constitutional challenge to lethal injection could brought under procedures not be habeas а petition.

Accordingly, Diaz did have an alternative avenue for challenging the lethal injection procedure in federal court, but did not utilize it. In 1999, Diaz filed a federal habeas petition in federal district court. The petition was pending until January 2004 On January 14, 2000, section 922.105 was amended to provide for lethal injection as the method of execution in Florida. See ch. 2000-2, § 3, at 4, Laws of Fla. Also, while his federal habeas petition was pending, Diaz filed two habeas petitions in this Court. See Diaz v. Moore, 828 So. 2d 385 (Fla. 2001); Diaz v. Crosby, 869 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 2003).

Under 28 U.S.C. § 2254, an application for a writ of habeas corpus in a federal court may be granted if the applicant has exhausted the remedies available in the state courts. Thus, had Diaz raised a lethal injection claim in either of his two state habeas petitions that were filed after lethal injection was adopted as the method of execution in Florida, he could have then raised the claim in his initial federal habeas petition that was pending from 1999 until 2004. However, Diaz did not utilize this avenue that was available to him. Thus, it was due to his own lack of diligence that he missed the opportunity to challenge execution by lethal injection in a federal habeas action. Accordingly, we find no violation of Diaz's due process rights and no basis for striking down section 27.702 as unconstitutional We deny Diaz's petition for all writs relief.

See also Cox v. State, 5 So. 3d 659 (Fla. 2009); Ventura v. State, 2 So. 3d 194 (Fla. 2009); Henyard v. State, 992 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 2008). Florida Statutes, section 27.702 does not deny Appellant any right to challenge lethal injection in a federal civil action, it only denies use of his taxpayer-supplied capital counsel for doing so. His attack on the statute is no more than a request for an unwarranted extension of his statutory right to counsel. Because Appellant's claim is without merit and has repeatedly been rejected, this Court should affirm the postconviction court's summary denial of the instant claim.

## CLAIM VII

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT PROPERLY REJECTED APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGE TO THE RULES PROHIBITING JUROR INTERVIEWS.

Appellant's next claim involves a constitutional attack to the rules governing juror interviews, Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. The postconviction court summarily denied the instant claim based on this Court's precedent. (PCR V5:829). Although not addressed by the lower court, Appellee submits that the instant claim was procedurally barred as it was a claim that could have been raised on direct appeal, but was not. See Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 205 n.1 & 2 (Fla. 1998); Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509, 530 n.6 (Fla. 1999); see also Brown v. State, 755 So. 2d 616, 620-21, n.1, 4, 5, 7 (Fla. 2000); Mann v. State, 770 So. 2d 1158, 1161, n.2 (Fla. 2000); Johnson v. State, 804 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 2001), Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909 (Fla. 2000).

Appellant asserts that the rule prohibiting his counsel from interviewing jurors, Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, is unconstitutional because it violates his constitutional rights of equal protection and due process. In <u>Barnhill v. State</u>, 971 So. 2d 106, 116-17 (Fla. 2007), this Court rejected the same exact claim that Appellant raises in the instant case:

Barnhill argues that rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.575 violate his constitutional right of equal protection and deny him adequate assistance of counsel in pursuing his postconviction remedies. The State argues this issue is procedurally barred because it was not raised on direct appeal. The State also argues that Barnhill fails to identify specific incident of juror misconduct. We deny on this relief issue consistent with our prior decisions which have found that rule 4-3.5(d)(4) and rule 3.575, which collectively restrict an attorney's ability to interview jurors after trial, do not violate the defendant's constitutional rights. Power v. State, 886 So. 2d 952, 957 (Fla. 2004); Sweet v. Moore, 822 So. 2d 1269, 1274 (Fla. 2002); Johnson v. State, 804 So. 2d 1218, 1225 (Fla. 2001).

See also Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 2008); Sexton v. State, 997 So. 2d 1073, 1089 (Fla. 2008); Evans v. State, 995 So. 2d 933 (Fla. 2008). Because Appellant's claim is procedurally barred and without merit, this Court should affirm the postconviction court's summary denial of the instant issue.

### CLAIM VIII

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE JURY WAS IMPROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON THEIR RESPONSIBILITY IN VIOLATION OF <u>CALDWELL V.</u> MISSISSIPPI, 472 U.S. 320 (1985).

In claim eight of his postconviction motion, Appellant asserted that the jury was unconstitutionally instructed because they were told their role was merely "advisory." Appellant relied on Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S. Ct. 2633 (1985), to support his legal argument. The postconviction court, assuming arguendo that the claim was properly presented, summarily denied the claim based on this Court's well-established precedent. (PCR v5:829-30). The State submits that the instant claim is procedurally barred as a claim that, if properly preserved by contemporaneous objection at trial, must be raised on direct appeal. See Gore v. State, 846 So. 2d 461, 466 n.4 (Fla. 2003); Jones v. State, 845 So. 2d 55, 72 n.38 (Fla. 2003); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995).

In addition to the procedural bar, this Court has repeatedly rejected this claim on the merits as it is well established that the rationale of <u>Caldwell</u> is not applicable to Florida because the judge, rather than the jury, renders the sentence. <u>See Card v. State</u>, 803 So. 2d 613, 628 (Fla. 2001) ("We hold the following claims are without merit: . . . (2) the standard jury instructions that refer to the jury as advisory

and that refer to the jury's verdict as a recommendation violate Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S. Ct. 2633, 86 L. Ed. 2d 231 (1985)"); Melendez v. State, 612 So. 2d 1366, 1369 (Fla. 1992) (stating that Caldwell does not control Florida law on capital sentencing and the instructions as given adequately advised the jury of its responsibility); Combs v. State, 525 So. 2d 853, 855-56 (Fla. 1988) (holding Caldwell inapplicable to Florida death cases). Likewise, in the instant case, as the postconviction court correctly noted, the jury was instructed on the applicable law in accordance with the standard jury instructions. (PCR V5:830). This Court has opined that "the standard jury instruction fully advises the jury of importance of its role, correctly states the law . . . and does not denigrate the role of the jury." Brown v. State, 721 So. 2d 274, 283 (Fla. 1998) (citation omitted). Thus, this Court should affirm the postconviction court's denial of this claim.

## CLAIM IX

WHETHER APPELLANT'S EIGHTH AMENDMENT RIGHT AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT WILL BE VIOLATED AS APPELLANT MAY BE INCOMPETENT AT TIME OF EXECUTION?

ninth claim, Appellant asserts that his Eighth Amendment right against cruel and unusual punishment will be violated if he is found incompetent at the time of his Appellant acknowledges that the claim is not ripe execution. for review and that he raised the issue only in order to preserve the claim for federal review. The lower court denied the instant claim as premature based on this Court's precedent. (PCR V5:830-31). Under Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.811 and 3.812, the issue of competency for execution cannot be raised until the Governor has issued a death warrant. See Parker v. State, 904 So. 2d 370, 380-81 (Fla. 2005); Cole v. State, 841 So. 2d 409, 430 (Fla. 2003); Brown v. Moore, 800 So. 2d 223, 224 (Fla. 2001). As this Court noted in Barnhill v. State, 971 So. 2d 106, 118 (Fla. 2007):

concedes that his claim Barnhill competency to be executed is not ripe for review as he has not yet been found incompetent and a death warrant has not been signed. He contends that he is only raising this issue for preservation purposes. Court has repeatedly found that no relief is warranted on similar claims. See State v. Coney, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 n.19 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting the defendant's claim that he is insane to be executed where he acknowledged that claim was not yet ripe and was being raised only for preservation purposes); Jones v. State, 845 So. 2d 55, 74 (Fla. 2003) (finding claim that defendant may be insane to be executed "not ripe for review" where defendant was not yet found incompetent and death warrant not yet been signed; noting that defendant made claim "simply to preserve it for review in the federal court system"); Hall v. Moore, 792 So. 2d 447, 450 (Fla. 2001) (stating that it is premature for a death-sentenced individual to present a claim of incompetency or insanity, with regard to his execution, if a death warrant has not been signed).

Because the instant claim is not ripe for review, this Court should deny the instant claim.

### CLAIM X

# FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTORY SCHEME IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

Appellant alleges that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional and violates Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000), and Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002), because the aggravators are not charged in the indictment, the statute permits jury recommendations of death based upon a majority vote, and the statute does not require jury unanimity as to the existence of specific aggravating factors. Appellant raised a portion of this claim on direct appeal and this Court held:

Troy next argues that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutionally invalid because it does not require the findings of each aggravating factor to be made by the jury, pursuant to Ring. This Court has denied relief in appeals where the trial judge has found the "during the course of a felony" aggravator. See Robinson v. State, 865 So. 2d 1259, 1265 (Fla. 2004) ("This Court has held that the aggravators of murder committed 'during the course of a felony' and prior violent felony involve facts that were already submitted to a jury during trial and, hence, are in compliance with Ring.") (citing Owen v. Crosby, 854 So. 2d 182, 193 (Fla. 2003)). Given that Troy was convicted of this crime simultaneously with two counts of armed burglary, two counts of armed robbery, and attempted sexual battery, relief on this Ring claim is denied.

Troy v. State, 948 So. 2d 635, 653-54 (Fla. 2006).

Additionally, as Appellant properly recognizes, this Court has consistently rejected his constitutional challenges to

Florida's death penalty statute. See Merck v. State, 975 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 2007) (noting that a defendant is not entitled to notice of aggravating factors in the indictment and jury may recommend death by a majority vote); Marshall v. Crosby, 911 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 2005) (noting that this Court has rejected Ring claims in over fifty cases); Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, 54 (Fla. 2003) (Ring does not encompass Florida procedures or require either notice of the aggravating factors that the State will present at sentencing or a special verdict form indicating the aggravating factors found by the jury). As the postconviction court properly summarily denied the instant claim based on this Court's precedent (PCR V5:831-32), this Court should affirm the lower court's ruling.

## CLAIM XI

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE UNCONSTITUTIONAL APPLIED ON ITS FACE AND AS FOR FAILING TO PREVENT THE ARBITRARY AND **CAPRICIOUS** IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY AND FOR VIOLATING THE GUARANTEE AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND TO CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Appellant alleges a multitude of constitutional challenges regarding Florida's death penalty statute. The lower court summarily denied the claim as procedurally barred and also found that the claims were without merit. Specifically, the court stated:

In Ground XI, the Defendant argues that the death penalty is unconstitutional, in that:

- (1) execution by lethal injection imposes unnecessary physical and psychological torture without commensurate justification;
- (2) the statute fails to provide any standard of proof for determining that aggravating circumstances 'outweigh' mitigating circumstances;
- (3) the statute fails to define for the judge's consideration each of the aggravating factors listed in the statute;
- (4) the procedure does not allow the independent reweighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances;
- (5) the aggravating circumstances have been applied in a vague and inconsistent manner;

- (6) the statute creates a 'presumption of death' whereby if only one aggravating factor is present it can only be overcome by mitigating evidence so strong as to outweigh the aggravating factor; and
- (7) this 'presumption of death' violates the Eighth Amendment, in that the death penalty is not applied only to the worst offenders.

The Court finds that these issues should have raised on direct appeal. Nevertheless, assuming that these claims were properly raised in this motion, the Court denies them. Each of these claims has been previously rejected by the Florida Supreme Court. See, e.g., Ventura v. State, [2 So. 3d (Fla. 2009)] (noting repeated and consistent rejection of Eighth Amendment challenges to Florida's current lethal-injection protocol); Henyard v. State, 2d 120, 129-30 (Fla. 2008) (Baze does not alter Florida's standard to review Eighth Amendment challenges); San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, (Fla. n.5 1997) (concluding that weighing provisions Florida's in death penalty statute requiring the jury to determine '[w]hether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist which outweigh aggravating circumstances found to exist' and the standard jury instruction thereon did unconstitutionally shift the burden to the defendant to prove why he should not be given a death sentence).

(PCR V5:832-33) (footnote omitted). As none of these issues were raised on direct appeal, the postconviction court properly found that these claims were procedurally barred. Furthermore, as this Court has repeatedly noted, the individual claims lack merit. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the postconviction court's summary denial of this claim.

### CLAIM XII

### APPELLANT'S CUMULATIVE ERROR CLAIM IS WITHOUT MERIT.

Appellant claims in his final issue that the arguments contained in his brief, when considered cumulatively by this Court, should cause this Court to vacate his judgment and sentence and order a new trial. The State has shown, however, that none of Appellant's claims have merit. The lower court agreed and found that because Appellant had failed to establish any of his allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, he was not entitled to relief under a cumulative error analysis. (PCR V5:833).

Because there is no individual error to consider, Appellant is not entitled to combine meritless issues together in an attempt to create a valid "cumulative error" claim. See Brown v. State, 846 So. 2d 1114, 1126 (Fla. 2003) (upholding lower court's denial of cumulative error claim when each of the individual claims of ineffective assistance of counsel had been denied); Mann v. Moore, 794 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 2001) (finding no cumulative effect to consider where all claims were either meritless or procedurally barred); Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 (Fla. 1999) (concluding that where allegations of individual error do not warrant relief, a cumulative error argument based thereon is without merit).

## CONCLUSION

In conclusion, Appellee respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the lower court's denial of postconviction relief.